
times more likely to die than white people when police restraint is applied. But facts only speak 
if we find them and present them clearly. Without this data and its official acknowledgment, 
bereaved families lack the statistical proof that supports the argument that their loved ones’ 
deaths are part of a racialised pattern of violence or neglect. 

Whatever the race of the deceased and the level of force used, it is rare that the police are 
held to account. But with ethnic minorities, the existence of a large racial disproportionality 
ought to have led to a new, more accountable approach. Instead, there has been a doubling 
down on the state’s refusal to accept the extent of the problem. Many bereaved families find 
the police attempting to minimise responsibility by denigrating the deceased, often drawing on 
racial stereotypes about the strength or violence of black men. 

It is not that these deaths in police custody have prompted no action. The circumstances of 
these deaths and the defects in the way they were investigated have been serious enough to 
bring about far-reaching recommendations from external reviews and coroners concluding that 
“unlawful”, “excessive” or “disproportionate” force was used, leading to changes in police guid-
ance and the law. These include police vans in London being fitted with CCTV in 2015, front-
line officers in the Metropolitan police having to wear cameras from 2016, and a law restricting 
the use of force in mental health units in 2022. 

But what is missing is real accountability. Despite these changes, aside from the case of Dalian 
Atkinson, no death of a black person in custody has resulted in a conviction, or a dismissal for 
gross misconduct, of a police officer. The officers involved have kept their jobs and, in some 
cases, been promoted. What should be a matter of public interest remains a private catastrophe. 
In 2014, Adrian McDonald, a 34-year-old engineer and father of two, died in the back of a 
Staffordshire police van after repeatedly saying, “I can’t breathe.” He had been restrained, bitten 
by a police dog, Tasered and then put in the van, where he lost consciousness. Nine minutes 
passed before an ambulance was called, but McDonald was pronounced dead at the scene. 
Police had been called when McDonald became paranoid after taking cocaine and barricading 
himself inside a room in a flat where he had been attending a party. The sergeant who arrived at 
the scene told the police control room that the man in the flat seemed to be rambling and subject 
to delusion. But the officers did not treat McDonald as if he was experiencing a mental health cri-
sis: they broke down the door and sent in a dog. (In a statement after the inquest, the IOPC said 
that officers “did initially attempt calm, verbal communication”.) 

What such cases often share is the evident fear of the black man who died. McDonald was seen 
as a threat, even though he had barricaded himself inside a room, just as Godrick Osei had. Darren 
Cumberbatch, a 32-year-old black man who died in Warwickshire in 2017, had taken refuge in a toilet 
cubicle; seven police officers forced their way in, and he was kicked, beaten with batons and Tasered. 

Seni Lewis died in London in 2010 after voluntarily going to a psychiatric hospital, the Bethlem 
Royal Hospital, with his parents. When he tried to leave he was restrained by staff who then called 
for the police. Officers shackled and handcuffed Lewis and put him in a seclusion room. He lost con-
sciousness after being held on the floor for 45 minutes and was pronounced dead four days later. In 
2017, an inquest jury found that Lewis died as a result of prolonged restraint which amounted to 
“unnecessary and unreasonable” force. While acknowledging that race was “the elephant in the 
room”, the coroner did not allow the officers to be questioned about the role racial discrimination 
might have played in Lewis’s death. The jury were in effect asked to not consider race. 

After McDonald’s death, the police watchdog – then called the Independent Police Complaints 

‘How Do I Heal?’: The Long Wait For Justice After A Black Man Dies In Police Custody  
Raekha Prasad, Guardian: The true number of black people who have died after contact with 

the police has been hidden, while their families are faced with delays and denials In the early 
hours of Sunday 3 July 2022, two men, 300 miles apart, died after contact with police. One 
man was in Cornwall, and the other in Nottingham. Both men were unarmed, and had not 
harmed anyone. Both men were terrified; both had struggled with drug addiction; both were in 
the midst of a psychotic episode. Both were black. Both had called the police to help them. 

Godrick Osei was 35 and a father of two. At around 2am, he placed two calls to his sister from 
his partner’s flat in Truro. He was in a paranoid state, and claimed men with guns were in the flat. 
Then he jumped out of the window, taking his partner’s phone. He rang the police himself, and 
said he was being chased by armed attackers. Officers from Devon and Cornwall police found 
him at 2.30am: he had entered a care home and was hiding in a staff bathroom. His family, who 
have viewed the police bodycam footage, said that officers forced their way into the cubicle where 
he had hidden because he was so terrified, and a number of them restrained him. He died less 
than an hour later. That same morning, in Nottingham, police arrived at the home of Kaine 
Fletcher to detain him under the mental health act. Fletcher, a 26-year-old father of two, was 
restrained by officers and later taken to hospital. Within a few hours, he was dead. 

These deaths are part of a larger pattern: official data shows that black people die at twice 
the rate of white people in similar encounters with police. The role of racism in these cases is 
fiercely contested by the government and the police, but there is an explanation for the dispro-
portionality. The common thread in almost all such cases is an exaggerated perception of the 
physical threat posed by the victims, even when they have called the police themselves, as 
Osei and Fletcher both had. Instead of being treated as the victims of a medical emergency, 
they were met with force – treated “like a criminal”, in the words of Kaine Fletcher’s father. 

It is extremely rare for anyone to be held accountable for such deaths. In the past 35 years, 
only one police officer in England and Wales has been convicted of manslaughter following a 
death in police custody – and that was the case of the black former Premiership footballer 
Dalian Atkinson, who had been Tasered and kicked in the head. England has a highly devel-
oped system for police accountability: every incident in which contact with officers may have 
caused death or serious injury must be referred to the Independent Office for Police Conduct 
(IOPC), which determines whether officers have a “case to answer” and should face a disci-
plinary meeting or hearing. But the IOPC has never concluded that a police officer has a case 
to answer for racial discrimination when a black person has died following police contact. 

Beginning in 2021, I spent two years working for Inquest, the charity that provides informa-
tion and support on state-related deaths, investigating the cases of black men in Britain who 
had died after contact with the police. What I found was alarming: the racial disproportionality 
in these deaths is even greater than the official figures reveal. Perhaps just as disturbing was 
the official denial that race played any part in them. The degree to which black people dispro-
portionately die in police custody has effectively been hidden from public view. In fact, unpub-
lished official data obtained during my work for Inquest shows that black people are seven 
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Commission (IPCC) – conducted an investigation. It did not report its findings until two years 
later. The investigation concluded that the use of Tasers and a dog to subdue McDonald was “rea-
sonable”, but directed Staffordshire Police to bring misconduct charges against two officers for 
their failure to care for McDonald when he complained he could not breathe. 

The wheels of justice turned, but merely kicked up dust. After being charged, the officers were 
cleared in a disciplinary hearing regarding the sackable offence of gross misconduct. They were instead 
found guilty of the lesser charge of misconduct for delays in checking up on McDonald. However, in 
2018 the officers successfully appealed, and a tribunal cleared them on the basis of a “misunderstand-
ing” at the original three-day hearing. The written warnings the officers had received were struck from 
their records. The McDonald case is part of a wider pattern. Neither the watchdog investigation nor the 
inquest adequately addressed the families’ questions about why their loved one met with force, not 
care; why they were treated as a threat rather than in need of help, and why force was escalated when 
their relative was asking for assistance. As in other such cases, questions of racism and discrimination 
were left unaddressed. McDonald’s family believe that, during the IPCC investigation and inquest, the 
police relied on stereotypes about black men when justifying use of force. “They would focus on how 
big he was, how powerful he was, how crazy he was – as if to say, ‘He’s a big, strong black man,’” his 
brother Wayne says. “They never really questioned how vulnerable he was. And he was scared. They 
never once questioned, ‘Well, there were eight of you and one of him.’” 

Partly because racial stereotyping is routinely left out of such inquests, these patterns are repeated 
over and over. Marcia Rigg’s brother Sean, a black man who had been living with schizophrenia, 
died aged 40 at Brixton police station after being restrained by officers in August 2008. Now a cam-
paigner, she attends inquests to support other families who find themselves in a similar position. She 
told me: “The officers say the same thing on the witness stand. The pattern is this: the police say ‘he 
was so strong’; ‘I feared for my life’; ‘I thought he was gonna kill me’. So even one officer is not 
enough, because this man is so strong. Two officers is not enough, because this man is so strong. 
Three officers, four officers – this man is so strong. Really?” 

In common law systems, the state’s response to concerns around fairness and legitimacy 
sparked by such deaths is to use coroners to investigate them. After the police watchdog’s 
investigation, deaths in custody or caused by police should be referred to an inquest with a 
jury, which makes a legal determination of the causes of death. Lawyers I interviewed told me 
that questioning whether racial stereotyping had any bearing on a person’s death is often 
viewed by coroners as “not nice”, “rude”, “offensive” or “casting character aspersions”. The 
family trusted that the legal processes following Adrian McDonald’s death would deliver jus-
tice. “They say they needed the facts. They don’t want anything else but the facts. I thought, 
you’ve got all the facts there,” said McDonald’s mother, Germaine Phillips. 

Bereaved families often end up feeling that these processes were designed to shield officers 
from proper scrutiny. “The process is for the police: to protect them; to say they were right and 
could keep their jobs,” Margaret Briggs told me. Her son Leon, who was mixed-race, died in 
Luton in 2013 following police restraint while he was experiencing drug-induced psychosis. In 
2016, the police watchdog had referred Leon Briggs’s case to the Crown Prosecution Service 
after it found there was “an indication” that five officers and a member of staff “may have com-
mitted criminal offences”. After two years, the CPS decided no prosecutions would take place. 
The IOPC then stated that five police officers should face a gross misconduct hearing, but 
Bedfordshire Police said it would not present any evidence against its officers to the disciplinary 

panel, which meant the hearing collapsed in 2020. The IOPC told me that, in the case of Leon 

Briggs, “it remains our view that the evidence should have been aired and tested in front of 
the misconduct panel to ensure public confidence in policing and accountability”. In 2021, an 
inquest concluded that the way in which police officers restrained Briggs contributed “more than 
minimally” to his death. However, the officers have kept their jobs and faced no further action. 

The experience of the watchdog investigation, inquest and misconduct proceedings destroys fam-
ilies’ faith in the capacity of these processes to bring accountability. “You can wish and hope, but the 
raw fact is, you’re not going to get it,” Seni Lewis’s mother, Aji, told me. Race has been central to 
modern efforts to regulate the police. Lord Scarman’s report into the Brixton riots in 1981 said that, 
in order to restore trust among the black community, the UK needed an independent body to inves-
tigate police complaints. The Macpherson report in 1999 into the racist murder of black teenager 
Stephen Lawrence recommended ending the practice of police officers being investigated by their 
own or another force. Remarkably, it took Macpherson to say, for the first time, that police officers 
who used racist words or participated in racist acts should be dismissed from their jobs. 

The IPCC began operating in 2004, with its own investigatory powers. One of the first cases 
it considered was the death of a black man in police custody. Christopher Alder, a former army 
paratrooper who served in the Falklands and Northern Ireland, was detained by police in Hull 
after a nightclub altercation on 1 April 1998. Alder had done nothing unlawful; in fact, he was 
the victim of an assault. And yet police officers arrested him in hospital and left him to die 
handcuffed and face down on the floor of a police station, while five other officers stood by, 
allegedly making monkey noises while the 37-year-old choked on his own blood. It was more 
than 10 minutes before Alder received any help from those charged with keeping him safe. 

Two years after Alder’s death, a coronial inquest that included video footage from the police station 
had delivered a verdict of unlawful killing. But three years later, disciplinary charges had been dis-
missed against all the officers involved. After its creation, the IPCC was asked to review the events 
leading up to and following Alder’s death. The commission’s report, written by its chair, Nick 
Hardwick, found that the police’s “failures were personal and individual”, and amounted to “unwitting 
racism”. It reached a “grim conclusion”, one that could be applied to nearly all the deaths that have 
taken place since: it was not that Alder “mattered enough to those that dealt with him … for them to 
conspire to kill him – but that he did not matter enough for them to do all they could to save him”. 
Despite such strong words, in 2006, Charles Clarke, Labour’s home secretary, told the Commons 
he was confident that since the Macpherson report, “all police forces have taken steps to eradicate 
racism within the police service”. He rejected calls for a public inquiry into Alder’s death. 

The Alder case, however, set in train events that would help bring down the IPCC. By 2008, 
the IPCC was facing allegations that it was failing to order proper inquiries; accepting police 
evidence without challenge; failing to disclose documents to complainants; misunderstanding 
the law; and rejecting complaints on weak grounds. In 2011, Janet Alder, Christopher’s sister, 
took his case to the European Court of Human Rights. The UK government accepted the 
court’s damning assessment that there had been a lack of effective investigation into his 
death, apologised to the family and paid €26,500 in compensation. It later emerged that 14 
police officers were deployed to spy on Janet Alder during her brother’s inquest. She said she 
felt “terrorised by the state”. An investigation by the IPCC found “evidence to support the con-
clusion” that racism was “likely to have been a factor” when police initiated the surveillance. 

In August 2012, an inquest delivered one of the most damning verdicts concerning a death in cus-
tody: it found that police officers had used “unsuitable and unnecessary” force on Sean Rigg, who 

died in custody at Brixton police station in 2008. This flatly contradicted the watchdog’s conclu-
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“proportion of black deaths involving restraint appears to be higher than expected” com-
pared to their numbers in the wider population. But its officials argued this did not provide 
“definitive evidence about disproportionality”. Coles said she felt “really angry” when the tables 
popped up – data she says had been “hidden from public view”. “We had been talking about 
this for decades,” she said. “And we’re constantly getting pushback, sometimes accused of 
exaggerating or inflaming a situation. And there it was in black and white.” 

After this meeting, the IOPC did give Inquest the raw data used in the study. It showed that 
there had been 119 deaths involving restraint recorded by the IOPC from 2012 to 2021. Of these, 
23 were of black people, 86 were white, five were Asian and four were mixed race. During this 
period, black people made up about 3% of the population as a whole, but they represented 
almost 20% of these deaths. Meanwhile, white people made up about 86% of the population but 
accounted for around 70% of the deaths. Taking into account these differences, the IOPC data 
suggests that black people were roughly seven times more likely to die than white people when 
police restraint was involved. And this applied whether they were detained or not. 

Some argue this disproportionality can be explained because black people come into con-
tact with the police more than white people. But Home Office data suggests that arrest and 
detention rates of black people are only double that of white people – far short of the dispro-
portionality found when restraint is involved. The absence of data is also only one part of the 
problem. As previously noted, the system for investigating police-related deaths fails to scru-
tinise the role that racial stereotyping might have played. On paper, the police watchdog’s 
guidelines for investigating racism are comprehensive and detailed. They state that while 
racism can be overt, it can also involve unconscious biases and assumptions, and that the 
IOPC must consider whether these influenced the actions of officers. 

But the practice falls short of the theory. Between 2015 and 2021, not a single officer was found 
to have a case to answer for misconduct in respect of racial discrimination, in cases where a black 
person died after police force was used. This was a period in which 22 black people died following 
police restraint. Even in the instances where race is considered, investigators often uncritically 
accept officers’ version of events. In one report from 2018, an officer’s own denials are cited as “evi-
dence” that no discrimination took place. Police officers themselves have often been unwilling to 
explore whether race might have influenced them. In an IOPC report from 2019, concerning the 
death of a black man who told police “I can’t breathe” while they restrained him, an officer described 
the question over whether ethnicity played any part in their actions and decisions as “a ridiculous 
notion”. Unless racism is expressed overtly in the form of verbal abuse, or spelled out in text mes-
sages, the watchdog appears to conclude there is nothing to see. 

These failures of scrutiny in the initial investigations are crucial. If race is not cited in the evi-
dence presented to the coroner, then it is much harder to examine in an inquest – the next and 
final step in a family’s efforts to get answers regarding the death of a loved one. But coroners 
are also reluctant to allow race into their courts. I examined the concluding documents of 12 
high-profile cases of police restraint-related deaths of black men that occurred between 2008 
to 2018. There was not one mention of racial discrimination or racism. 

For families, the inside of a coroner’s courtroom can feel like a theatre of the absurd. Consider the 
case of Darren Cumberbatch, an electrician from Warwickshire who died in 2017, nine days after 
police entered the toilet cubicle where he was hiding during a mental health crisis. Cumberbatch was 
punched 10-15 times, struck with batons, kicked, stamped on, Tasered three times, sprayed with an 
incapacitant, handcuffed and restrained on the ground in the prone position. 

sions two years earlier that officers had acted “reasonably” and “proportionately”, after it accepted 
accounts from them about key aspects of the case that were later shown to be untrue. Police officers’ 
failings, the court said, had “more than minimally” contributed to Rigg’s death. As a result, the IPCC 
commissioned an external review of its initial investigation into Rigg’s death. The review was led by 
criminologist Dr Silvia Casale, who criticised the IPCC for accepting “improbable” and “implausible” 
police statements. Officers had been allowed to confer with each other before making initial state-
ments to investigators. Casale said there was no evidence that investigators for the IPCC had con-
sidered race as a motive in the officers’ actions or omissions. 

Despite the Casale review’s damning verdict, black men continued to die in custody with no 
accountability. Campaigns about the issue gathered steam. In January 2015, Marcia Rigg and 
Aji Lewis – whose brother and son respectively died after restraint by officers in 2008 and 
2010 – confronted then home secretary Theresa May at a conference on mental health in the 
black community, asking her a series of awkward questions. Unable to offer any satisfactory 
answer, May invited the two women and their lawyers to the Home Office. After their meeting, 
May announced the first-ever review into deaths in police custody, headed up by Elish 
Angiolini, one of Britain’s most senior lawyers. 

Angiolini delivered a coruscating judgment over the “the lack of accountability and learning 
following deaths in custody”. Her 2017 report “raised particular concern about deaths involving 
ethnic minority men and police restraint”. She cited a breakthrough 2011 IPCC study, which 
found that, during the 11 years before March 2009, 87 people died following police restraint. 
Two-thirds were white, 16% were black, 7% were of mixed ethnicity and 6% were Asian. This 
dataset showed that black people are six times more likely to die than white people when 
restraint was involved. Yet despite it being one of Angiolini’s key recommendations, there is 
still no publicly available ethnic breakdown for all deaths following police restraint. 

More than a decade after Sean Rigg’s death, his family feel justice has still not been done. In 
2019, a Metropolitan Police misconduct panel dismissed all the gross misconduct charges against 
five officers involved. In 2023, three of the officers secretly received compensation and an apology 
from the IOPC for delays in the case by its predecessor. Rigg’s sister, Marcia, only found out via 
a social media post from the police staff association. The IOPC apologised unreservedly to Marcia 
Rigg for causing “anxiety, distress and upset” by not telling her about the settlement. 

Before I began my work for Inquest, the charity had drawn up a data-sharing agreement with 
the police watchdog so that it could fill any gaps in its database of “deaths during or following 
police contact” over a five-year period. My job was to talk to lawyers, officials and families to 
see how to raise awareness about the persistence of black deaths in police custody in the UK. 
The more interviews I did, the more investigation reports I read, the more cases I digested, the 
more obvious the racial disproportionality appeared. But what was missing was a way to pre-
cisely measure the problem. The database that Inquest had was detailed, but quantifying the 
extent of disparity was proving impossible. The deaths I wanted to scrutinise, where restraint 
was involved, had been split and submerged with other situations. I was stuck looking at rows 
of dates and names. From the reams of IOPC data I had before me, it was impossible to get 
a breakdown of “restraint-related deaths by ethnicity”. 

And so it was a surprise when the director of Inquest, Deborah Coles, returned from a meet-
ing in July 2022 in Whitehall with precisely the data I needed. Officials from the IOPC had put 
up a slide showing that its own study into ethnicity and restraint revealed an overwhelming 
racial disparity in deaths following police contact and custody. The IOPC conceded that the 
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New ‘Super-Prison’ Suffering Staff Exodus 
Andy Gregory, Independent: The government’s troubled flagship “super-prison” has now seen 

its third leadership change in just two years after its governor was sent to take over at another 
struggling jail – in a situation likened to rearranging deckchairs on the Titanic. Repeated leader-
ship changes have caused disruption since HMP Five Wells opened in March 2022, inspectors 
warned in April, with nearly two-thirds of staff having left already, and drug use reported to be 
rampant. The jail’s new governor, Will Styles, was praised for bringing some stability to the 
prison. But Mr Styles has now been sent to take over at a different G4S jail instead, HMP Parc, 
where 10 prisoners have died in the space of three months resulting in protests and disorder. 

“Staff need leadership, not Titanic deckchairs,” said Professor John Podmore, a former gov-
ernor of Belmarsh, Brixton and Swaleside. The creation of six new super-prisons is central to 
Tory and Labour plans to fix the crisis engulfing Britain’s prison system by creating 20,000 new 
prison places. But Professor Podmore said the difficulties evidenced at Five Wells show that 
the “policy of building their way out of a crisis is failing and doomed to failure”. 

The first inspection at Five Wells, carried out in December, alarmingly highlighted that just 272 
of the nearly 750 staff hired since the prison opened less than two years prior still remained in 
post – leaving it dependent on officers loaned from other jails. And inspectors warned that the 
flood of illicit drugs at the new G4S-run jail had “the potential to undermine the stability of the 
prison”, with around a third of inmates found to be using drugs in random testing. Rates of vio-
lence and self-harm had reduced from the “turmoil” reported in the prison’s first two years of 
operation, but the rate of self-harm was still very high, with 1,256 incidents recorded in a year. 
Prof Podmore told The Independent: “If you’ve spent a quarter of a billion pounds [building Five 
Wells] – [and] two years in [there’s] bugger all in the way of education, training and employment, 
a third of the prison’s on drugs, and 500 staff have left... Shouldn’t we be doing a bit better than 
that? “If your house is falling off a cliff, you don’t build a conservatory on it – this is what they’re 
doing. You can’t add to a failing system,” he said, adding: “There’s no point building places peo-
ple don’t want to work in and that people don’t want to lead. Yes, there’s a money problem; yes, 
there’s an overcrowding problem – but look at drugs, look at staffing,” he said. “That’s not about 
overcrowding, that’s about how the Prison Service is run.” Expressing concern about the situa-
tion at HMP Parc, Prof Podmore warned that the Bridgend prison is “ground zero” for a crisis of 
lethal new synthetic opioids “about to engulf our prisons”. 

Members of the Welsh parliament have warned of a scandal unfolding at Parc, which has 
already suffered more deaths in a single year than any Welsh prison on record. Four are 
believed to have involved synthetic opioids, with another death potentially also drug-related, 
police said in April. One 19-year-old recently recalled to the prison had been on suicide watch 
when he took his own life, having struggled with addiction, his aunt told ITV Wales in late May 
during a protest held outside the prison by bereaved families. Just days after the protest out-
side the jail, riot officers were called to HMP Parc on 31 May in response to disorder involving 
20 prisoners on a wing housing 100 inmates. In a simultaneous incident, an altercation 
between three prisoners left each requiring hospital treatment. G4S said the two “short-lived 
incidents were resolved by onsite G4S staff”, with all 20 prisoners returned to their cells by the 
time riot officers arrived at the jail, and no prisoners or staff injured. And on Monday night, an 
inmate was rushed to hospital with facial injuries following an altercation involving a weapon, 
just days after G4S told Wales Online that a prisoner had been taken to hospital as a precau-

tion and another assessed by onsite medics in two “suspected drug-related incidents”. 

The IOPC’s initial investigation did not consider race at all, and concluded that none of the 
officers involved had breached the standards of professional behaviour. But the jury in a later 
inquest concluded that the restraint “may have been excessive”, and the police watchdog 
announced a review of its investigation. After two more years, the IOPC admitted shortcom-
ings in its initial probe, but declined to reopen the investigation. It was only after 
Cumberbatch’s family threatened to petition for judicial review of the IOPC decision that the 
watchdog admitted the investigation had been “flawed” and announced a new inquiry in 2022. 
The IOPC says the inquiry was completed in April 2024, but it has yet to make any decision 
on “whether any disciplinary measures will follow. Seven years on, I’m still waiting for a report,” 
Cumberbatch’s sister Carla says. “How do I heal?” 

The current system presents families with a facade of bureaucratic action: after a death at the 
hands of police, there are a series of formal processes – investigations and judgments from the 
watchdog, and the coroners’ inquests. The state’s message is that there is nothing to see or learn 
from the glaring similarities in each case. Instead, every new death is portrayed as the result of 
a series of isolated and regrettable accidents. Unless racism is expressed overtly in the form of 
verbal abuse or bigoted social media posts, the British state refuses to recognise racial discrim-
ination. Those waiting for the IOPC or an inquest to report are told to wait until the facts come 
out before rushing to judgment. But “to suspend judgment”, wrote James Baldwin in his 1985 
essay The Evidence of Things Not Seen, “demands that one dismiss one’s perceptions at the 
very same moment that one is most crucially – and cruelly – dependent on them”. For the 
bereaved families, “waiting for the facts” amounts to an injunction to forget what they already 
know to be true. But the facts are already out there. What is missing is an honest reckoning with 
the facts that are known – the patterns that repeat in these deaths but vanish from their investi-
gations. This is a political decision: a wilful process of refusing to join the dots. 

My report for Inquest showed that an uncomfortable truth about the disproportionate deaths 
of black men after contact with police had been buried. More than a year later – even after 
headlines in the papers and TV and radio stories highlighting the report’s findings – the data 
has still not been made public. For grieving families, there is a double insult: the role played 
by race in the death of their loved ones is never properly examined, and they naturally con-
clude that racism is the only explanation for this failure. 

Almost two years on, there has yet to be an inquest into Kaine Fletcher’s death. The delay 
is typical. In this case, it was caused by the IOPC taking more than double the time it said it 
would to complete its report. While the findings will remain unpublished until after the inquest, 
Nottinghamshire Police said in a written response: “The IOPC did not identify that any person 
serving with the police had either committed a criminal offence or behaved in a manner which 
would justify disciplinary proceedings.” Carolynn Gallwey, the lawyer for Fletcher’s family, said 
her clients “were dismissed and sidelined, and have lost their inquest date due to the long 
delay in their investigation, for which the IOPC has repeatedly refused to apologise. 
Unfortunately their patience has been rewarded with a poor-quality investigation and report.” 
In Nottingham, Kaine Fletcher’s father, Nathaniel Ameyaw, waits patiently for answers about 
his son’s death. “Nothing can bring Kaine back, but I want there to be some accountability; 
recognition that how the situation was handled was incorrect,” Nathaniel says. “He was men-
tally unwell. He hadn’t committed a criminal offence. So the approach they took was wrong. I 
want that to be acknowledged. I want to see change now in how people, especially people 

from my community, are treated.”   End 
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Open Letter to Helen Pitcher Chair of the (CCRC) from Brendan McConville 
Dear Ms Pitcher,  It is with some disappointment that I write this Open Letter to the Chair of 

the Criminal Cases Review Commission (CCRC). A dismay that has resulted from the realisa-
tion that my naïve expectation of a rigorous but efficient review process has been replaced by 
the harsh reality of a body that appears to function as nothing more than an impediment to 
judicial redress. For readers who are unaware of the details surrounding my wrongful convic-
tion, I will attempt to provide some background context along with a brief summary of the key 
strands of contended circumstantial evidence that were skilfully manipulated in order to secure 
my conviction in a non-jury court. And, yes, they still do exist in the north of Ireland, over a 
quarter of a century after signing the 1998 Good Friday Agreement.  

My life changed forever on 10th March 2009, when within a matter of moments the road adja-
cent to the front of my home, which I shared with my 14 year old son, became alive with the clam-
our and bustle of armoured police vehicles and their contingent of heavily armed personnel. This 
was quickly followed by a forceful pounding on my front door that left me in no doubt that some-
thing major was unfolding, and that I was right at the centre of it. The sudden descent on my 
home was just one of a series of house raids to occur that day in the local area, and I, just one 
of a number of individuals to be detained. The wave of coordinated searches and subsequent 
arrests followed a gun attack that occurred the previous night in the Craigavon area of County 
Armagh, which resulted in a police constable being shot and killed in an attack that was claimed 
by Irish republicans. This shooting happened just two days after another gun attack by Irish 
republicans outside Masserene barracks in County Antrim which left two British soldiers dead 
and a number of people injured. For many, it seemed like a spectre from the past had revisited 
and the tensions were at fever pitch level, with politicians demanding swift and decisive action.  

After 14 days of continuous questioning, I was eventually charged with the police constable's 
murder, based solely on the finding that my DNA profile had been discovered on a brown jacket 
that was retrieved from a car in which I had been a frequent passenger. The owner of that vehicle 
had likewise been charged with the constable's murder just one day prior to myself. The so called 
circumstantial evidence that was used to link the jacket to the shooting was a finding that the 
jacket had on it, in excess of 300 particles that were classified as 'indicative' of gunshot residue 
(GSR). However, the particles on the jacket could not be categorised as 'consistent' with GSR 
because they did not comprise all of its constituent components. It was later also revealed that 
my DNA profile was only one of at least 3, but possibly up to 10 other profiles obtained from the 
jacket. Furthermore, while it had rained heavily on the night of the shooting, the jacket was com-
pletely dry. Nevertheless, I was triumphantly paraded before a waiting media in what was por-
trayed as a 'fete accompli' for the police investigators. 

While I was in prison awaiting trial, 11 months after the shooting, a local man, who would later 
be described by his own father as a Walter Mitty type character who would make up stories in 
order to be the centre of attention, contacted the police in the middle of the night, while drunk, 
and told them that he had been out walking along with his partner and young children on the 
night of the shooting and that he had seen me with a group of men in the vicinity of where the 
shooting occurred. The witness claimed that I had acknowledged him as he walked past, using 
his Christian name and saying hello. This individual would become known as 'Witness M', with 
his true identity protected from ever being published by a court imposed anonymity order.  

Crucially, Witness M lied repeatedly during the trial, most notably in relation to his poor eyesight, only 
grudgingly conceding that he had been prescribed glasses when actually confronted with the pre-

The firm said it is strengthening security measures to prevent drugs entering Parc, that it 
carried out a prison-wide lockdown search as soon as synthetic opioids were detected, and 
that it has trained more than 500 frontline staff in administering the overdose-reversal drug 
naloxone, in a move praised by experts. Mr Styles – who has been praised for bringing stability 
to Five Wells – has now taken over at HMP Parc after Heather Whitehead, appointed only last 
August, left by mutual agreement, G4S said. He will be replaced at Five Wells by Pete Small, 
whose approach at HMP Rye Hill was lauded by inspectors in a recent report highlighting inno-
vation and best practice, G4S noted. The report concluded that consistency in leadership roles 
is required to maintain a positive culture in prisons.A G4S spokesperson said Mr Styles had 
been instrumental in bringing Five Wells to full occupancy and “establishing the foundations of 
a safe, respectful and purposeful environment for prisoners and staff”, adding that violence 
and self-harm had continued to fall since the December inspection. G4S said it was pleased 
inspectors had highlighted examples of good practice at Five Wells around prisoner support, 
adding: “We are committed to developing a stronger and broader purposeful activity, skills and 
education programme to enhance employment opportunities for prisoners.” 

 
Russia: Law on “Undesirable Organisation” Designation Breached the Convention 
The case of Andrey Rylkov Foundation and Others v. Russia (application no. 37949/18 and 

84 others) concerned the designation by the Russian Government of four applicant organisa-
tions as “undesirable” and the prosecution of individuals for engaging in activities with other 
organisations which had likewise been declared “undesirable”. 18th June 2024 the European 
Court of Human Rights held, unanimously, that there had been: a violation of Article 11 (free-
dom of assembly and association) of the European Convention on Human Rights in respect 
of the Free Russia Foundation, the Ukrainian World Congress, the Association of Schools of 
Political Studies, and Spolec ̌nost svobody informace, z.s., and a violation of Article 10 (free-
dom of expression) and Article 11 in respect of all applicants who had been convicted for their 
involvement with “undesirable organisations”. The Court found in particular that the legal pro-
vision dealing with the designation of “undesirable organisations” had not met the “quality of 
law” requirement, as it had not been clear what otherwise legitimate actions on the part of the 
applicants would lead to either a designation as “undesirable" or to sanctions.o 

 
Restricting Access to Soviet-Era Repression Archives Violated Freedom Of Rights 
18th June 2024 Chamber judgment in the case of Suprun and Others v. Russia (application 

no. 58029/12) the European Court of Human Rights held, unanimously, that there had been: 
a violation of Article 10 (freedom of expression) of the European Convention on Human Rights. 
The case concerned access to archival information regarding Soviet political repression. The 
Court found in particular that the restrictions on access to and copying of archival material had 
not met a “pressing social need” (such as protecting the privacy rights of the individuals 
involved) and the Russian authorities had not provided “relevant and sufficient reasons” for 
their decisions. The applicants were five Russian nationals who focus on researching the his-
tory of Soviet political repression, one Swiss national who is the great-niece of Raoul 
Wallenberg, a Swedish diplomat who saved the lives of tens of thousands of Hungarian Jews 
at the end of the Second World War and disappeared in Soviet custody, and International 
Memorial, a Moscow-based non-governmental organisation which was awarded the Nobel 

Peace Prize for its effort to document human rights violations. 
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analysis and identifying important factual inaccuracies, a series of arrests connected to an 
unrelated incident unveiled the identity of a covert State agent. It then became clear that this Covert 
Human Intelligence Source (CHIS) had also infiltrated the Justice for the Craigavon Two committee 
and had deliberately positioned himself to intercept legal professional privileged material that was 
conveyed to my elderly parents and campaign organisers during monthly committee meetings that 
took place in my parents' home. This intrusion represented a clear breach of my Article 6 right to a 
fair trail under the European Convention for the protection of Human Rights and Fundamental 
Freedoms (ECHR), and this issue would then become the singular focus of my response to the 
CCRC's June 2020 Statement of Reasons not to refer my conviction.  

The cat and mouse game continued to play out as the CCRC again rejected the revised sub-
missions, which led my legal team to challenge their decision by way of Judicial Review. The 
CCRC then responded to the judicial review action in January 2022 stating: 'Having considered 
the arguments made on Mr McConville's behalf and to assure absolute fairness, the CCRC has, 
in line with its published policy on judicial review, offered to take another look at his case.' In 
effect, the CCRC quashed it's earlier decision not to refer my case to the Court of Appeal.  

I now appeal to the CCRC to take action to progress my case. The question about a defen-
dant's right to legal professional privilege is one that has been well rehearsed in law. If, as I 
suspect, the delay emanates from the State's reluctance to confirm the existence or activities 
of its operative, then I demand that the CCRC exercise it's powers under Section 17 of the 
Criminal Appeal Act 1995 to compel such disclosure in a timely manner. It has now been over 
7 year since my application was received by the CCRC and I am still in limbo. Justice delayed 
is justice denied.  I look forward to hearing back from you at your earliest convenience.  

Yours sincerely,  Brendan McConville, HMP Maghaberry, Roe House (Roe 4), Old Road, 
Ballinderry Upper, Lisburn, BT28 2PT 

 
   Recordings are 'Republican Pub talk'  

Julian Fowler, BBC News: A lawyer for one of ten people facing terrorism charges linked to 
the New IRA has argued that secret recordings amounted to nothing more than “republican 
pub talk”. The case arises from a major undercover surveillance operation by MI5 and police, 
called Operation Arbacia, into the activities of alleged violent dissident republicans. Between 
them the ten defendants face multiple charges arising from alleged meetings in 2020 in two 
properties in County Tyrone and in Edinburgh. Defence lawyers have begun a legal application 
at Belfast Crown Court to have the case against their clients dismissed. The charges include 
directing a terrorist organisation, belonging to a proscribed organisation, preparing terrorist 
acts, conspiring to direct terrorism and possessing articles for use in terrorism. 

'Pie in the sky waffle' - Defence barrister Joe Brolly, representing Patrick McDaid, said the 
recordings were “republican pub talk” and “pie in the sky waffle”. Mr Brolly claimed "no plans 
were hatched, no plans of terrorism were prepared." David Jordan’s barrister, Des Fahy KC, 
argued that evidence had been replaced by mere suspicion. He said while his client’s outlook 
and political leanings may be clear, there had been a “leap into the evidential dark” to bridge 
the gap between his beliefs and putting him on trial for the serious matters that are alleged. 
He added that the charge of membership of a proscribed organisation required proof, not 
merely being a sympathiser. Amanda Duffy’s lawyer Joseph O'Keefe questioned the reliability 
of evidence which attributed what was said on the recordings. He said speech evidence from 

the same expert witness had been ruled inadmissible in two other terrorism trials. 

scription from his optician during cross-examination. In fact, a consultant ophthalmologist, called 
by the prosecution, gave evidence that an individual diagnosed with the eyesight defects recorded in 
Witness M's prescription, which included Myopia and Astigmatism, would have difficulty identifying 
facial features beyond a distance of 8 yards. Measurements showed that the closest that Witness M 
could ever have come to the point where he claimed to have passed me was 16 yards. In addition, 
other than giving vague explanations such as 'I know him since he was a nipper', and 'I used to see 
him running about, up the street, Witness M was never able to explain how he would have known me. 
At one point, he even conceded that he never had a conversation with me before. Furthermore, to date, 
Witness M's partner has never made a statement to the police about her recollections of that night. She 
did, however, have a telephone conversation with a detective who submitted a statement saying that 
Witness M's partner confirmed to him that she had no memory of any exchange occurring between her 
partner and another individual that night. Nevertheless, based on circumstantial evidence, which com-
prised both the brown jacket and Witness M's testimony, I was found guilty of murder by joint enterprise, 
by a single judge, and handed down a life sentence with a minimum tariff of 25 years.  

As a matter of law, all individuals convicted in non-jury trials are granted automatic leave 
to appeal their convictions and this, undoubtedly, results in an increase in the rate of chal-
lenges in these cases. This, in turn, seems to have engendered a degree of judicial apathy  
towards such appeals, with judges appearing to view them as nothing more than an expect-
ed second roll of the dice by a convicted prisoner with nothing to lose. Accordingly, the 
Court of Appeal seems to function as nothing more than a stamp of approval for these dis-
puted convictions, that after all were determined by fellow learned judges, not inexperi-
enced jurors. Nevertheless, my appeal began in 2013 and despite the difficulties that 
Witness M's anonymity order had on suppressing the reporting of information that might 
have assisted the defence, my legal team managed to make contact with Witness M's 
father. As a result of this meeting, Witness M's father agreed to provide an affidavit to the 
Court which, as mentioned earlier, described his son as a compulsive liar. Astonishingly, 
however, just prior to the commencement of the appeal, Witness M's father was arrested 
by the police on suspicion of withholding information about threats, which the police main-
tained had been made to him and his family in order to persuade him to make a false affi-
davit. It also transpired that the police had secretly recorded conversations between 
Witness M's father and other family members ta their home in an attempt to gain informa-
tion. Witness M's father vehemently denied that he had been threatened in any way into 
making his affidavit, and, in fact, the secret recordings did reveal that when referring to his 
son, during conversations within the family, which unbeknownst to him were being record-
ed, he would refer to his son as Walter Mitty, and this nickname appeared to be the accept-
ed nickname within the family, with none of the siblings indicating any surprise or doubt 
about who was being talked about. In spite of this new evidence, the Court of Appeal, 
nonetheless, upheld the conviction.  

Following the Court of Appeal's dismissal of my appeal, an application was made to the Criminal 
Cases Review Commission (CCRC) in March 2017. Amongst the many points that the CCRC were 
asked to review was the suspected involvement of covert State agents, and the circumstances sur-
rounding the arrest of Witness M's father. Nevertheless, after more than 3 years, and what appears 
from the CCRC Statement of Reasons to have been a minimalist investigation, the CCRC commu-
nicated its preliminary decision not to refer my case back to the Court of Appeal. In June 2020, how-

ever, while my legal team were in the process of responding to the errors in the CCRC's legal 
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